A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner is David Brown (hereinafter "Brown"). 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Brown is seeking review of the decision in Robin Eubanks, et. a!. 

v. David Brown, et. al, Court of Appeals, Division II, NO. 44969-2-II. The 

Court of Appeals' decision was issued on June 3, 2014. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does a client's timely notification of his or her former 

attorney that the client believes the former attorney has a conflict 

of interest preclude a finding of waiver simply because the former 

client did not immediately pursue a motion to disqualify? 

2. Should a delay in pursuing a motion to disqualify for 

legitimate reasons, as opposed to tactical gain, result in a waiver of 

a conflict of interest, especially when the client has put his or her 

former attorney on notice of the conflict? 

3. Does a finding that a client can waive a conflict of interest 

by "delaying" the filing of a motion to disqualify for reasons other 

than tactical gain diminish the public's trust in the practice of law? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Brown is a former deputy prosecutor m the Klickitat County 

Prosecuting Attorney's Office. CP 1. In late 2009, Brown made the 
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decision to run for the position of the Klickitat County Prosecuting 

Attorney. CP 1. During Brown's preparation for announcing his candidacy 

for the 2010 election, he became concerned that the Hatch Act, 5 U.S.C. 

§ § 1501-1508, precluded him from running for office while still employed 

as a deputy prosecutor. CP 1-2. Brown was also concerned about what 

legal protections he had as a county employee in an "at will" and FLSA

exempt position. CP 2. To address these concerns, Brown sought legal 

counsel, and was eventually directed to Tom Boothe ("Boothe"). CP 3. 

In May 2010, Brown contacted Boothe for legal advice regarding 

the foregoing, and over the next two months had numerous phone calls 

with Boothe (totaling 75 minutes) and exchanged numerous e-mails with 

him. CP 47. These phone calls and e-mails primarily concerned Brown's 

decision to run for prosecuting attorney, but also touched on general 

employment issues. CP 3-4. 

A few days after announcing his candidacy in May 2010, two 

employees (Robin Eubanks and Erin Gray, hereinafter collectively 

"Eubanks") submitted a formal grievance alleging that Brown had 

harassed them. CP 4. After the accusations were made, Brown spoke with 

Boothe and informed Boothe about the allegations. CP 4. 

On December 17, 2010, Eubanks brought suit against Brown, 

asserting claims of sexual harassment. CP 5. Boothe subsequently 
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substituted as counsel for Eubanks, and on July 13, 2011 sent 

correspondence to counsel for Brown identifying Boothe's earlier contacts 

with Brown. CP 20, 25-26. At the time of Boothe's appearance in the case, 

Brown had a petition for discretionary review pending before the Court of 

Appeals regarding whether or not venue was proper in Clark County as it 

relates to Brown (hereinafter "the venue issue"). CP 21. 

In Boothe's July 13, 2011 letter, he noted that it was not his 

"preference" to sue the alleged harasser, and that if Brown's discretionary 

review was "well taken," it would make Boothe's decision "to dismiss Mr. 

Brown even easier." CP 25. Shortly after receipt of the letter, counsel for 

Brown contacted Boothe. CP 21. During that conversation, Boothe 

advised counsel that if Brown prevailed on the venue issue, Boothe would 

seek his clients' authority to dismiss Brown. CP 21. Counsel for Brown 

then advised Boothe that Brown believed that Boothe had a conflict of 

interest that precluded Boothe's representation of Eubanks. CP 21. 

Counsel for Brown asked Boothe to withdraw and avoid motion practice. 

CP 21. Boothe declined. CP 21. In addition, Boothe became very angry 

and began personally attacking Brown. CP 96, 470. Boothe stated that 

Brown was a "liar" (and other derogatory terms) and that if Brown 

pursued a motion to disqualify Boothe, he would make it "a war." CP 96; 

470. Boothe promised to attack Brown's credibility, cautioning counsel for 
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Brown that Brown "doesn't want to open a hornet's nest." CP 470. Given 

Boothe's representation that he would seek his clients' approval to dismiss 

Brown if Brown prevailed on the venue issue, and hoping to avoid the 

promised "war" if he prevailed on the venue issue, counsel for Brown 

advised Boothe that Brown would wait until final resolution of the venue 

issue before seeking disqualification. CP 471. 

Having put Boothe on clear notice that it was Brown's position that 

Boothe had a conflict of interest, and that Brown would bring a 

disqualification motion (if necessary) after resolution of the venue issue, 

Brown did not raise the conflict issue again until November 2012. CP 22. 

On September 18, 2012, the Court of Appeals ruled that venue was 

proper in Clark County. CP 21. Brown petitioned this Court for review. 

CP 21. While that petition was pending, the parties began scheduling 

depositions, 1 with Boothe requesting Brown's deposition. CP 21-22. 

Although the venue issue had not been resolved, with the commencement 

of depositions, Brown believed he could no longer put off the promised 

"war" and the opening of the "hornet's nest." CP 472. Counsel for Brown 

therefore again contacted Boothe and asked him to withdraw. CP 472. 

Boothe again declined. CP 472. Brown's counsel therefore notified Boothe 

that Brown intended to move forward with the motion to disqualify that 

1 No depositions had been taken prior to November 2012. CP 21,472. 
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Brown's counsel had told Boothe 16 months earlier would be filed. CP 22. 

On January 7, 2013, Brown brought a motion to disqualify Boothe. CP 44. 

In an order dated May 7, 2013, the trial court correctly concluded 

that Brown had an attorney-client relationship with Boothe "on the Hatch 

Act and other election issues." CP 435-36. The trial court also correctly 

found that as part of that attorney-client relationship, Brown discussed the 

harassment allegations made against Brown by Eubanks. CP 435. 

However, although Brown and Boothe had an attorney-client relationship, 

the trial court concluded that as it relates to the harassment claims, Brown 

was only a prospective client of Boothe. CP 436. Since Brown refused to 

disclose the substance of the confidences he shared with Boothe regarding 

the harassment claims, the trial court denied Brown's motion. CP 435-36. 

Brown motioned the Court of Appeals for discretionary review. 

The court commissioner found that the trial court "appears to have 

committed probable error in denying the motions to disqualify Boothe, 

which substantially limits Brown and Klickitat County's ability to defend 

against the sexual harassment action, particularly in that Boothe seeks to 

take the deposition of Brown." Appendix A, pgs. 11-12. Further, the 

commissioner held that "[b]ecause Boothe formerly represented Brown in 

a matter that appears to be substantially related to the current action, 
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Boothe would be precluded from continuing his representation of Eubanks 

and Gray absent consent from Brown. RPC 1. 9." Appendix A, pg. 12. 

In its June 3, 2014 opinion, the Court of Appeals declined to 

address the issue of whether Boothe has a conflict of interest. Appendix B, 

pg. 1. Instead, the court disregarded well-established case law regarding 

the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC), as well as the RPC themselves, 

and concluded that by waiting 18 months to file the motion to disqualify, 

Brown "waived" his right to claim that Boothe has an impermissible 

conflict of interest. The Court of Appeals based its decision on In re 

Firestorm 1991, 129 Wn.2d 130, 916 P.2d 411 (1996), a case in which this 

Court held that a party could waive its right to disqualify opposing counsel 

for a discovery violation by delaying the filing of a disqualification 

motion. Appendix B, pgs. 5-8. The Court of Appeals also reasoned that 

although Boothe had been told right from the outset of his involvement in 

this case that Brown believed Boothe had a conflict of interest, and that 

Brown would pursue a motion to disqualify (if necessary) after resolution 

of the venue issue, Eubanks would be prejudiced if Boothe was 

disqualified, as Boothe had engaged in extensive litigation. Of course, the 

alleged extensive litigation Boothe engaged in came after Brown advised 

Boothe that it was Brown's position that Boothe had a conflict of interest 

and that Brown would move to disqualify Boothe upon final resolution of 
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the venue issue. Finally, the Court of Appeals specifically found that 

Brown's "delay" in the filing of the disqualification motion was not based 

on any "tactical reasons." This petition timely followed. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

This Court should accept review for three reasons. First, the Court 

of Appeals' decision that Brown waived his right to seek disqualification 

of his prior attorney is contrary to long-standing authority regarding a 

waiver of a conflict of interest. Pursuant to well-established law, a client is 

the only individual that is permitted to waive a conflict of interest and that 

waiver must be based upon "informed consent" and "confirmed in 

writing." It is undisputed Brown did not provide such consent. To the 

contrary, from the outset of Boothe's involvement in this case, Brown 

maintained the consistent position that Boothe had a conflict of interest 

and that Brown would move to disqualify Boothe upon resolution of the 

venue issue. In the absence of a finding that the delay in pursuing 

disqualification was for tactical reasons, a finding of waiver is contrary to 

Washington law. Review is appropriate pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(2). 

Second, the holding implicitly condones an attorney's conscious 

disregard for the RPC, subverts the intent and purpose of the RPC and 

risks shaking the public's confidence in the practice of law. As a matter of 

public policy, the onus should not be placed upon the client, whether 
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former, current or prospective, to ensure that an attorney abides by the 

RPC. The practical effect of the Court of Appeals' decision is to provide 

an incentive for attorneys to disregard the self-governing nature of the 

RPC and risk that a client will not timely pursue a disqualification motion. 

Here, when Boothe was advised of his former client's position that Boothe 

had a conflict, Boothe's response was to attack Brown and threaten a 

"war." The Court of Appeals has rewarded Boothe, to the detriment of 

Brown, for Brown's non-tactical reason for not immediately seeking 

disqualification, and for Boothe's decision to thereafter pursue "extensive 

litigation" in the face of a claimed conflict. Such a holding threatens to 

eviscerate the very core of the RPC and effectively operates as a disservice 

to the public - the very public the RPC were drafted to protect. Review is 

appropriate pursuant to RAP 13. 4(b )( 4). 

Third, the message sent by the decision to both the public and to 

the legal profession is that compliance with the RPC is solely dependent 

upon the timely filing of a motion to disqualify. While the RPC will 

generally be rigorously enforced to protect the integrity of the profession, 

those same RPC can be ignored, and an attorney allowed to continue a 

representation that violates those RPC, simply because the former client 

did not pursue disqualification timely enough. That is bad public policy. 
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The Court of Appeals concluded that it is acceptable for an 

attorney to violate the RCP because of a procedural "delay" in moving to 

disqualify - even though the client protested the conflict of interest from 

the outset, and even though the client had valid, non-tactical reasons for 

delaying pursuit of disqualification. This Court should accept review, hold 

that a conflict of interest cannot be waived by a justified delay in bringing 

a motion to disqualify, and enter a finding disqualifying Boothe. 

1. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With 
Washington Law. 

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case directly conflicts with 

established case law regarding waiver of a conflict of interest pursuant to 

the RPC. Relying upon In re Firestorm 1991, 129 Wn.2d 130, 916 P.2d 

411 ( 1996), the Court of Appeals held that Brown waived the right to seek 

Boothe's disqualification because of excessive delay in filing a motion to 

disqualify. While this Court in Firestorm did hold that an excessive delay 

can result in a party waiving the right to disqualify opposing counsel, that 

case addressed disqualification in the context of discovery sanctions, not 

when a conflict of interest exists. This Court framed the issue in 

Firestorm as whether the plaintiffs counsel conducted an improper ex 

parte interview with an expert pursuant to CR 26, and, if so, was the 

sanction of disqualification proper. Firestorm, 129 Wn.2d at 132. 
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Importantly, the Court distinguished Firestorm from cases involving 

unethical conduct by noting that "[n]o express ethical prohibition prohibits 

ex parte contact with an expert witness of an opposing party." !d. at 137, 

n. 2. Of course, in this case, and in contrast to Firestorm, the RPC 

expressly prohibit representation that involves a conflict of interest. The 

Court of Appeals' reliance upon Firestorm was thus misplaced. 

Further, such a holding and reliance on Firestorm ignores this 

Court's caution and guidance that is directly on point with this case: 

One situation requiring the drastic 
remedy of disqualification arises when 
counsel has access to privileged 
information of an opposing party. The 
issue of access to privileged information 
frequently arises in conflict of interest 
cases. Requiring disqualification after 
counsel has had access to privileged 
information preserves the public's 
confidence in the legal profession. 

Firestorm, 129 Wn.2d at 140 (emphasis added) (internal citations 

omitted). The Court of Appeals ignored this Court's express guidance 

regarding the particular context in which disqualification would be an 

appropriate remedy - when a conflict of interest is present. The very issue 

before the Court of Appeals was whether Boothe had a conflict of interest. 

Presented with a case in which its commissioner concluded that Boothe 

had previously represented Brown in a matter substantially related to the 
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current action, and was therefore precluded by RPC 1.9 from continuing 

representation of Eubanks absent consent from Brown, the Court of 

Appeals misapplied Firestorm, and ignored the express language of RPC 

1.9, which precludes a waiver of a conflict absent informed consent 

confirmed in writing. 

The trial court explicitly found that an attorney-client relationship 

existed between Boothe and Brown and that Eubanks claims were 

discussed as part of that representation. CP 435. RPC 1.9(a) addresses 

duties owed by an attorney to a former client and states: 

A lawyer who has formerly represented a 
client in a matter shall not thereafter 
represent another person in the same or a 
substantially related matter in which that 
person's interest are materially adverse to 
the interests of the former client unless the 
former client gives informed consent, 
confirmed in writing. 

"Informed consent" denotes the agreement 
by a person to a proposed course of conduct 
after the lawyer has communicated adequate 
information and explanation about the 
material risks of and reasonably available 
alternatives to the proposed course of 
conduct. 

RPC l.O(e). "'Confirmed m writing,' when used in reference to the 

informed consent of a person, denotes informed consent that is given in 

writing by the person or a writing that a lawyer promptly transmits to the 

person confirming an oral informed consent." RPC l.O(b). "[A] lawyer 
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who does not personally inform the client or other person assumes the risk 

that the client or other person is inadequately informed and the consent is 

invalid." RPC 1.0, cmt. 6. The issue of waiver of a conflict of interest was 

already addressed by this Court in In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against 

Carpenter, 160 Wn.2d 16, 155 P.3d 937 (2007). 

Here, Carpenter never obtained informed 
written consent from SPI. Curiously, he 
attempts to place the burden on SPI by 
arguing that it could have demanded his 
withdrawal, and its failure to do so waived 
the conflict of interest. However, [In re 
Disciplinary Proceeding Against] Haley, 
[156 Wn.2d 324, 126 P.3d 1262 (2006)] 
clearly states that waiver either exists or 
does not and in this case, there was no 
informed written consent. The burden is on 
the attorney. The Association correctly 
asserts that it is not incumbent upon the 
client to police the lawyer's ethics and 
conduct, particularly where, as here, the 
client never received the required 
disclosures. 

Carpenter, 160 Wn.2d at 26 (internal quotations omitted). 

Here, Boothe did not discuss his anticipated representation of 

Eubanks with Brown and its associated material risks and reasonably 

available alternatives to Brown. Instead, when Brown told Boothe that he 

had a conflict of interest, Boothe called Brown a "liar" and threatened a 

"war" if Brown pursued the issue. In doing so, he ignored his obligations 

to his former client and his obligations under the RPC. Further, he 
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assumed the risk of later disqualification once Brown brought the motion 

to disqualify that Brown had promised at the outset of the case. 

The Court of Appeals' decision also conflicts with First Small Bus. 

Inv. Co. of California v. Intercapital Corp. of Oregon, 108 Wn.2d 324, 

337, 738 P.2d 263 (1987), a case actually relied upon by the Court of 

Appeals. In First Small Bus., this Court did find that failure to act 

promptly with a motion to disqualify may result in waiver. 108 Wn.2d at 

337. However, citing to Central Milk Producers Coop. v. Sentry Food 

Stores, Inc., 573 F.2d 988 (8th Cir.1978), the Court noted that waiver can 

be found when the delay is used "as a tool to deprive his opponent of 

counsel of his choice after substantial preparation of a case has been 

completed." First Small Bus., 108 Wn.2d at 337, citing Central Milk, 573 

F.2d at 992. In this case, the Court of Appeals specifically concluded that 

there was "no indication that Brown delayed filing the motion for tactical 

reasons." That fact distinguishes this case from those cases where waiver 

is found because a client delayed pursuit of a disqualification motion to 

gain a tactical advantage. Here, not only did Brown notify Boothe 

immediately of his belief that Boothe had a conflict, but also: (1) Brown 

told Boothe he would move to disqualify him (if necessary) after 

resolution of the venue issue; and (2) Brown had a sound, legitimate basis 

for withholding the filing of a motion to disqualify (potential dismissal if 

13 



Brown prevailed on the venue issue). The Court of Appeals' reliance upon 

First Small Bus. and its conclusion that Brown did not delay the motion 

for tactical reasons simply cannot be reconciled. 

In addition, for the same reasons as stated above, the Court of 

Appeals' finding of prejudice to Eubanks is in conflict with First Small 

Bus. Specifically, in citing to Central Milk, the Court noted that it would 

not allow a tactical delay of pursuing the motion to disqualify to deprive 

an opponent of his or her counsel of choice "after substantial preparation 

of the case has been completed." 108 Wn.2d at 337, citing Central Milk, 

573 F.2d at 992. In this case, Brown cannot be said to have caused any 

prejudice to Eubanks, as Brown's "delay" was not for "tactical reasons." 

Further, unlike First Small Bus. and Central Milk, Brown notified Boothe 

of the claimed conflict right from the outset. Brown simply did not 

"allow" Boothe to engage in "extensive litigation." Rather, Boothe chose 

to engage in extensive litigation after being made aware that Brown would 

seek disqualification if resolution of the venue issue did not result in the 

dismissal of Brown. As such, the finding that Brown's delay was not the 

result of "tactical reasons" and the finding that the delay caused Eubanks 

prejudice simply cannot be reconciled. 

This Court should accept review of this case because the Court of 

Appeals' decision clearly disregards authority regarding conflicts of 

14 



interest and disqualification. RAP 13.4(b)(l)-(2). The Court should make 

clear that "delays" in pursuit of disqualification motions that are not the 

result of "tactical reasons" do not result in a waiver of a conflict. 

2. The Court of Appeals Decision Involves An Issue Of 
Substantial Public Interest. 

The Court of Appeals' decision finding waiver of an identified 

conflict of interest based solely on delay strikes at the very heart of intent 

and purpose of the RPC. The decision has far-reaching implications and

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