RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 25, 2014, 9:34 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 90475-8

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### ROBIN EUBANKS, ERIN GRAY, ANNA DIAMOND, and KATHY HAYES,

Respondents,

v.

DAVID BROWN, individually and on behalf of his marital community,

Petitioner,

and

#### KLICKITAT COUNTY, KLICKITAT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY'S OFFICE,

Defendants.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DAVID BROWN

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Sidney Tribe, WSBA #28820 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Ave SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661 Thomas Boothe, WSBA #21759 7635 S.W. Westmoor Way Portland, OR 97225-2138 (503) 292-5800

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

Brown's first pre-trial appeal in this case was a venue challenge. He brought that challenge all the way to this Court, and lost. While Brown's first interlocutory appeal was pending, he moved to disqualify the trusted trial counsel of Robin Eubanks, Erin Gray, Anna Diamond, and Kathy Hayes ("the harassed women"). He did not succeed, so then commenced a second interlocutory appeal. Now, he again seeks this Court's review, hoping to deprive the harassed women of their chosen and trusted counsel, and delay trial for another two years a.

There is no genuine issue raised in Brown's petition that should be of concern to this Court. The Court of Appeals' opinion is narrowly drawn to the facts, and appropriately applies controlling precedent. This Court should deny review.

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The harassed women acknowledge the issues that Brown presents

for review, but believe they are more appropriately formulated as follows:

.

- (1) Should this Court deny review because the Court of Appeals' opinion correctly applied Washington law on belated disqualification motions?
- (2) Should this Court deny review because the Court of Appeals' opinion in this private dispute does not implicate the public interest?

#### C. RESPONSE TO BROWN'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals decision summarizes the facts of this case, which the harassed women incorporate by reference. The following additional facts are pertinent to this Court's consideration.

In his petition, Brown makes no mention of the harassed women's claims. The women worked at the Klickitat County Prosecuting Attorney's Office ("the County"), and Brown was their attorney-supervisor. *Eubanks v. Brown*, 170 Wn. App. 768, 770, 285 P.3d 901 (2012) ("*Eubanks I*"). Brown sexually harassed them at work. *Id.* The harassed women allege that Brown positioned himself in the doorway to his office so that they would need to rub against his body when they left the office; he regularly sat in their shared office with his pants unzipped and his legs spread open; he gave unwanted gifts to Eubanks; he stood in their doorways without speaking for extended periods and watch them; and he stared at Gray's breasts during conversations. *Id*; CP 322-63. The

County later fired three of the harassed women for complaining about Brown's actions, one was constructively discharged when the stress made her too ill to continue working. *Id.* 

Although the harassed women filed their complaint in December 2010, they have not yet had their day in court. After Brown lost his venue challenge at the trial court, he sought discretionary review at the Court of Appeals. *Eubanks I*, 170 Wn. App. at 769. He lost, then petitioned this Court for review. *Eubanks v. Brown*, \_\_\_\_ Wn.2d \_\_\_\_, 327 P.3d 635 (June 19, 2014) (*"Eubanks II"*). While that petition was pending, Brown moved in the trial court to disqualify the harassed women's counsel, Thomas Boothe. *Eubanks v. Klickitat Cnty.*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_\_, 326 P.3d 796, 798 (June 3, 2014) (*"Eubanks III"*). The trial court denied Brown's motion. Appendix A. That denial began this second interlocutory appeal. *Id.* 

In addition to this procedural history, it is important for this Court to note that the trial court resolved Brown's disqualification motion without resolving any factual disputes, including the two most critical disputed facts here: whether Boothe represented Brown regarding his Hatch Act questions, or whether they ever discussed Brown's alleged sexual harassment. *Eubanks III*, 326 P.3d at 797; Appendix A.

Instead, the trial court accepted the facts as Brown presented them, ruling on summary judgment that disqualification was not warranted. *Id*.; RP 4, 15. At the trial court motion hearing, Brown's counsel admitted that the material facts *were* disputed and argued that the trial court needed to hold a hearing to resolve credibility issues. RP 4. The trial court responded that a credibility determination was unnecessary because even assuming all of Brown's allegations were true, disqualification was not warranted. *Id.* at 4, 15. The trial court did just that, relying in its order on Brown's affidavit for its factual underpinning, declining to resolve any disputed issues of fact, and ruling summarily. CP 434-35.

Thus, Brown's claim (Petition at 11) that the "trial court explicitly found that an attorney client relationship existed" is misleading. The trial court's "finding" of an attorney-client relationship was based solely on the facts as Brown presented them. Whether Boothe represented Brown on the Hatch Act question is a disputed fact not resolved below. It is undisputed, however, that Boothe never issued an engagement letter or fee agreement to Brown, no emails between the attorneys contained any evidence of legal advice sought or given, Boothe never sent Brown an invoice for his services, and Brown never paid Boothe a dime for his alleged representation.<sup>1</sup> CP 106.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Brown's claim that Boothe represented him for free is concerning. Brown stated that Boothe, like "attorneys before," had represented him for free as a "professional courtesy" given the fact that Brown was a "modestly compensated public servant." CP 5. Despite claiming familiarity with ethical precepts, Brown does not

It is also disputed that Brown ever mentioned sexual harassment allegations in any of their conversations. CP 91-93. Brown learned of the sexual harassment allegations in May 2010. CP 4. Brown was called to appear at a County administrative hearing in early June. CP 368-71. Brown did not contact Boothe, seek Boothe's advice, or solicit his representation in relation to those proceedings. *Id.* He called Boothe on June 21, *after* he had been disciplined. The subject of that phone call is disputed. CP 4, 88-89. Brown's only email to Boothe after Brown was contacted about the complaints against him came on June 23, 2010, and it merely forwarded links to two articles about the Hatch Act issue from two local papers. CP 113. Again, no mention was made of the sexual harassment matter. *Id.* 

In December 2010, the harassed women filed a complaint against Brown and Klickitat County. CP 5. Again, Brown did not contact Boothe or seek his representation in defense of that complaint.

In June 2011, Boothe was asked by the harassed women's first lawyer to associate on the case. CP 238.<sup>2</sup> In a surplus of caution, Boothe

explain how such gifts of legal services do not violate RCW ch. 42.52 the Ethics in Public Service Act, which prohibits gifts to public officers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although that lawyer's affidavit states that she approached Boothe in 2012, it is clearly a typographical error. There is no dispute that Boothe appeared in July 2011. CP 136.

consulted with WSBA ethics counsel about his previous conversations with Brown. CP 95. On the advice of the WSBA counsel, Boothe sought advice from ethics expert, Lee Ripley, who concluded that no conflict existed.  $Id.^3$  Boothe agreed to take the case and appeared in July 2011. CP 96.

In a July 2011 letter to Brown's counsel, Boothe immediately disclosed that he had spoken to Brown about unrelated matters in 2010. CP 136; Appendix B. He disclosed the nature of the conversations, and that in an abundance of caution he had consulted with the WSBA and private counsel regarding the matter. *Id.* 

Brown claims he waited until January 2013 to bring his disqualification motion "[g]iven Boothe's representation that he would seek his clients' approval to dismiss Brown if Brown prevailed on the venue issue." Pet. at 4. The Court of Appeals cited Brown's claim as a basis for observing that there was "no indication" Brown delayed filing his motion for tactical reasons. *Eubanks III*, 326 P.3d at 799.

However, the claim that until January 2013, Boothe had led Brown to believe Brown might be dismissed after the venue decision is *patently false.* In November 2011, 13 months before Brown brought his

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Brown's affidavit and the history of the written communications between the two attorneys was analyzed in detail by Ripley for the trial court. CP 241-71.

disqualification motion, Boothe sent a letter to Brown's counsel. CP 154;

Appendix C. In that letter, Boothe stated:

When we conclude discovery we can revisit trial arrangements and determine whether the case should go forward in Clark County, stay pending the appeals, or separate into separate actions against the county and Mr. Brown.

*Id.* (emphasis added).<sup>4</sup> Boothe was clear as of *November 2011* that Brown would not be dismissed from the case based on venue concerns. Brown still took no action.

Brown's counsel's heated claims that Boothe called Brown a "liar" and threatened "war" over the disqualification issue are assertions, not established facts, and should be taken with a grain of salt. In the first affidavit Brown's attorney filed in support of the disqualification motion, he recounted Boothe's response to the disqualification issue thus: "Mr. Boothe adamantly denied that he had a conflict of interest and advised me that if Mr. Brown moved to disqualify him, he would vigorously oppose the motion." CP 21. Only in a *second affidavit in reply* – after Brown reviewed Boothe's response to his motion – did Brown's counsel include

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For this reason among others, the harassed women dispute the Court of Appeals' suggestion that Brown's decision to delay was not tactical. *Eubanks III*, 326 P.3d at 799. There is no reasonable basis on this record to conclude that Brown was not acting tactically when he delayed filing his motion to disqualify.

the inflammatory "liar" and "war" language in his recounting of Boothe's response. CP 474.

Between July 2011 to January 2013, all parties conducted extensive trial preparation. CP 96-100, 454-67. Boothe invested over 450 hours of his own preparation time, and over 600 hours of paralegal time, including written discovery, document review, depositions, and motions practice. CP  $100.^{5}$ 

Although Boothe appeared in July 2011, and although Brown knew by November 2011 he would not be dismissed from the lawsuit regardless of his venue challenge, CP 154, Brown did not move to disqualify Boothe until January 2013. CP 27, 44.

The trial court heard arguments on Brown's motion to disqualify. RP 1. Brown refused to offer any evidence to support the proposition that he disclosed any information to Boothe that could lead to substantial harm. RP 10. The trial court informed Brown that, even viewing all of the evidence in the light most favorable to Brown, there was no evidence of an attorney-client relationship between Boothe and Brown regarding the sexual harassment claims. RP 15-16. The trial court further stated that at most, Brown was a prospective client regarding the sexual harassment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The major discovery event that has not taken place is Brown's deposition. He has justified avoiding that deposition by bringing the current appeal.

claims, and that under RPC 1.18 Brown had the burden to indicate what information Boothe had that could do Brown substantial harm. RP 17.

Although ruling summarily, the trial court entered "findings and conclusions"<sup>6</sup> that, taking the facts the light most favorable to Brown, he had not made the requisite showing to support his motion for disqualification. CP 446-48.

Brown moved for discretionary review. CP 437. The Court of Appeals ruled that Brown had waived his right to seek Boothe's disqualification by his inordinate delay in bringing the motion. *Eubanks III*, 326 P.3d at 800. The Court of Appeals did not reach the questions regarding the claimed conflict of interest. *Id*.<sup>7</sup>

Just two weeks after the Court of Appeals ruled against Brown in his disqualification challenge, on June 19 this Court affirmed both the trial court and the Court of Appeals in Brown's venue challenge, holding that venue was proper and this case could at last proceed to trial. *Eubanks II*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Even if this Court should accept review and reverse, it cannot give Brown the remedy he seeks – disqualification. Again, the critical facts on the conflict issue were not resolved by the trial court, which accepted as true Brown's version of events. CP 434-35. Thus, the case must be remanded for findings of fact after an evidentiary hearing. Also, Brown has not challenged the Court of Appeals' decision not to reach the conflict issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Brown relies on the order of the Commissioner of the Court of Appeals on the decision to grant discretionary review. Pet. at 5-6, 10-11. While the harassed women have the utmost respect for the Commissioner's role in this process, any findings or holdings of the Commissioner in the context of an order granting discretionary review are not relevant here, where the judge of the Court of Appeals did not reach a decision on the merits.

327 P.3d at 641. However, on June 30, Brown filed the present petition for review to this Court.<sup>8</sup> Brown seeks to extend the interlocutory review process for another two years.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED<sup>9</sup>

#### (1) The Court of Appeals' Ruling Does Not Conflict With Any Opinion of This Court or the Court of Appeals

Brown claims that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1),<sup>10</sup> arguing that the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with *Matter of Firestorm 1991*, 129 Wn.2d 130, 916 P.2d 411 (1996); and *First Small Bus. Inv. Co. of California v. Intercapital Corp. of Oregon*, 108 Wn.2d 324, 738 P.2d 263 (1987). Pet. at 9-15.<sup>11</sup> He misreads these cases to

 $^{10}$  Although Brown also cites to RAP 13.4(b)(2), he cites only three opinions of this Court that give rise to the alleged conflict of law. Pet. at 9-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Although the County did not timely file a petition for review, on July 17 the County filed a pleading purporting to "join" in Brown's petition and adopting by reference all of Brown's arguments. Appendix A. There is no provision in the RAP for an untimely "joinder" of this nature. The County has waived its right to relief by failing to timely file its own petition. RAP 13.4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This Court is fully familiar with the criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Review by this Court of a Court of Appeals decision terminating review is a matter of discretion. RAP 13.3(a). This Court will accept Brown's petition for review only if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision from this Court, or if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3) do not apply here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Brown also cites In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Carpenter, 160 Wn.2d 16, 155 P.3d 937, 941 (2007). Pet. at 12-13. It is unclear how this disciplinary case regarding advising clients about known conflicts of interest relates to the Court of Appeals' ruling here, where the issue of conflict was not reached. To the extent these two pages of the petition might be read to suggest Brown is challenging the trial court's

suggest that under Washington law, a party claiming a conflict of interest can *never* waive the issue through delay, and therefore the Court of Appeals created a conflict with existing precedent by finding waiver here. *Id.* 

Neither *First Small Bus.* nor *Firestorm* prohibits a court from finding that a party has waived the right to obtain disqualification of an opposing party's attorney, even if the basis for disqualification is a claimed conflict of interest. In fact, in *First Small Bus.*, this Court held that the issue could be waived through delay alone.

As Brown reluctantly notes in his petition, for over 25 years under First Small Bus., it has been the law in Washington that a party who delays acting can waive the right to seek disqualification of opposing counsel, even when the claimed basis for disqualification is a conflict of interest and access to privileged information. First Small Bus., 108 Wn.2d at 336-37. In that controlling case, as here, a party claimed that opposing counsel should be disqualified on the basis of a claimed conflict of interest. Id. The moving party had waived several years to bring the motion. Id. The trial court had found the evidence of a conflict to be

finding that there was no conflict, the harassed women reserve the right to argue the issue in their supplemental brief should review be granted on that issue.

weak, but this Court held that it did not matter because "delay alone" was sufficient grounds for denying the motion to disqualify:

The moving parties had reason to know of the existence of the basis for the potential disqualification for several years before they filed their disqualification motion. A failure to act promptly in filing a motion for disqualification may warrant denial of a motion.

First Small Bus., 108 Wn.2d at 337.

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